5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUL 25 2018

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Circuit

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002481

AEP2, LLC f/k/a 2AM Group, LLC.....Respondent

v.

BMW of North America, LLC.....Appellant

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

M. Dawes Cooke, Jr., Esq.  
S.C. Bar No. 1376  
Anna L. Strandberg, Esq.  
S.C. Bar No. 102432  
288 Meeting Street, Ste 200  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 577-7700 Fax: (843) 577-7708

Ashley Bryan Abel, Esq.  
Jackson Lewis P.C.  
15 South Main Street, Ste. 700  
Greenville, SC 29601  
Attorneys for Appellant

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Did the lower court abuse its discretion in failing to set aside the entry of default in light of uncontroverted evidence that the default was caused by a mistake of fact as to the date of service?
  
- II. Did the lower court err in awarding prejudgment interest calculated from the date of first payment, even though both the contract purported to govern and the controlling law require notice?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was commenced on February 8, 2017, when Respondent filed a Complaint claiming BMW NA is obligated to indemnify it for withdrawal liability Respondent incurred to the Western Conference of Teamsters Pension Trust in 2014. BMW NA removed the case to the federal district court and filed notice of removal with the circuit court on March 24, 2017; Appellant's default had been entered earlier that same day. Following remand, BMW NA moved for relief from the default entry. The matter was heard before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. on June 13, 2017. The circuit court denied relief by Order filed July 21, 2017, and subsequently denied BMW NA's Rule 59(e) and Rule 60(b) motions for relief by Form 4 Order on October 4, 2017. A damages hearing was held on October 12, 2017. Following the hearing, the court entered two default judgments: the first, for a total amount of \$647,309.06, was entered on November 2, 2017; a second judgment was entered on November 27, 2017, for \$633,206.06. BMW NA served Respondent with Notice of Appeal on December 1, 2017.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2011, Appellant and Defendant BMW of North America (“BMW NA”) outsourced operations of its Ontario, California facility to 2AM Group, LLC, AEP2’s predecessor in interest (“AEP2”). The transition resulted in BMW NA incurring \$863,811.59 in withdrawal liability to the Western Conference of Teamsters Pension Trust. BMW NA paid this amount in full, fulfilling its obligation under the services contract. Years later, AEP2’s sale of assets to another company resulted in its own \$605,669.06 pension fund withdrawal obligation to the Teamsters. AEP2 filed two suits against attorneys involved in the transaction, alleging that they could and should have structured the asset purchase to avoid withdrawal liability. Almost three years after AEP2’s obligation to the Teamsters arose, AEP2 filed yet a third lawsuit against BMW NA, claiming for the first time that the Services Agreement obligates BMW NA to pay the Teamsters a second time. But a mistake of fact led to BMW filing its response to AEP2’s Complaint just out of time, and BMW NA now appeals from a default judgment in the amount of \$633,206.06.<sup>1</sup>

### The Services Contract

In late 2011, BMW NA entered into a services contract with AEP2’s predecessor in interest, 2AM Group, LLC, for labor management, quality assurance, and general operations of BMW NA’s facility in Ontario, California. (R. pp. 32–48, 187–88). All of the facility’s employees were union members of the Teamsters Automotive, Industrial, and Allied Workers Local No. 495, and as part of the agreement, BMW NA agreed to indemnify AEP2 from and against “any potential withdrawal liability *on the part of BMW NA* to the Western Conference of Teamsters Pension Fund” resulting from the termination of BMW NA’s contribution obligation

---

<sup>1</sup> At the time of this appeal, two judgments have apparently been entered; the first, filed on November 2, 2017 in the amount of \$647,309.06 was, upon information and belief, entered in error. BMW would respectfully request that this duplicate judgment be vacated.

to the fund (emphasis added). (R. pp. 9, 41). BMW NA's withdrawal from the Teamsters' jointly-administered pension plan resulted in BMW NA incurring over eight hundred thousand dollars in liability. (R. p. 188). Per the services agreement, BMW NA duly paid this amount in full. (R. p. 188).

Several years later, in February of 2014, AEP2 entered into an agreement to sell substantially all of its assets to another company, Sustained Quality, LLC. (R. p. 9). BMW NA was not a party to this transaction. As a result of the sale, and the resulting termination of AEP2's obligation to contribute to the Teamsters' pension, AEP2 purportedly incurred \$605,669.06 in withdrawal liability. (R. pp. 49–51). AEP2 reports that this amount has been paid to the Western Conference of Teamsters Pension Trust in full and in accordance with the Teamsters' notice and demand. (R. p. 9).

#### Subsequent Litigation

In 2016, AEP2 filed a professional negligence suit against the transactional attorney who assisted in negotiating and concluding the sale to Sustained Quality, LLC. (R. p. 9). In connection with this litigation, the defendant's attorney, Bruce Wallace, Esq., served BMW NA with a subpoena *duces tecum* requesting documents related to the services agreement at the Ontario facility. (R. pp. 188–89). BMW NA's response included an unsigned draft of a document captioned as an "Assignment, Assumption and Consent Agreement." (R. pp. 187, 197). To date, a signed copy of this document has not been located. Mr. Wallace also noticed the deposition of Courtney Anderson, formerly of BMW NA's legal department. (R. p. 209).

AEP2 subsequently filed a second professional negligence suit for the same damages against its own in-house counsel in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas on February

7, 2017.<sup>2</sup> (R. p. 10). The following day, the present suit, and AEP2's third arising out of the sale of assets, was filed in the same court. (R. pp. 28–31). BMW was served through its registered agent on February 10th of 2017, and its legal department coordinator forwarded the Summons and Complaint to in-house counsel, Richard Spitaleri, Esq., on February 13th. (R. pp. 52, 213).

In the course of managing the legal affairs of an international company, Mr. Spitaleri receives email correspondence from around the country. (R. p. 189). To organize these emails, he groups them using unique keywords—in this case, “AEP2”—to identify and sort related correspondence. (R. p. 214). The department coordinator's February 13th email with “AEP2, LLC” identified as the Plaintiff was associated with the similarly-captioned subpoenas served by Mr. Wallace in the professional negligence matter pending in the same South Carolina county, and electronically filed accordingly. (R. pp. 188–89).

On February 21, 2017, Mr. Spitaleri contacted Mr. Wallace's office about the proposed deposition of BMW NA's agent, Courtney Anderson. (R. p. 209). The sum and substance of that conversation is in dispute. Following the conversation, Mr. Wallace forwarded a copy of the Summons and Petition by email that morning, and Mr. Spitaleri immediately undertook to identify outside litigation counsel and assign the matter with instructions to remove and defend the case. (R. pp. 87, 214–15). In light of the filing date of the pleading and his conversation with Mr. Wallace, Mr. Spitaleri made a good faith mistake as to the date of service, believing it to be the date of his receipt of the pleadings, or February 21, 2017. (R. p. 214). AEP2 filed the Proof of Service with the Clerk later that afternoon. (R. pp. 52, 210).

Consistent with a service date of February 21, 2017, counsel for BMW NA electronically filed a Notice of Removal in the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina

---

<sup>2</sup> Both professional negligence suits were subsequently stayed pending the outcome of this dispute.

on March 23, 2017. (R. p. 54). AEP2's Motion and Affidavit for Entry of Default were filed in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas the following morning, March 24, and default was entered accordingly. (R. pp. 5, 53). Only a few hours later, the Clerk for Charleston County filed BMW NA's Notice of Removal. (R. p. 54).

After AEP2 filed a Motion to Remand in the district court citing the untimely removal, Mr. Spitaleri and counsel for BMW NA discovered the February 10th service date, informed opposing counsel of the good faith mistake as to the service date, and promptly consented to the motion. (R. pp. 88–89). The district court's remand order was logged in Charleston County on April 20th, and BMW NA moved to set aside the March 24th entry of default. (R. pp. 7, 74). In support of this Motion, BMW NA submitted affidavits by Richard Spitaleri and Ashley Abel, setting forth the circumstances under which BMW came to rely on the incorrect date of service. (R. pp. 85–89). By Order filed July 21, 2017, the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. denied BMW NA's motion, holding that BMW NA had failed to establish good cause for the default. (R. pp. 8–17). In particular and referring only to specific language in a single Affidavit, the lower court held that BMW NA's "lost-in-the-shuffle defense [was] inadequate." (R. p. 11). Further, and contrary to the uncontroverted sworn statements of both Mr. Spitaleri and Mr. Abel, the Court premised its holding in part on a finding that the Complaint "was not assigned to outside counsel for a prompt response." (R. pp. 11–12).

BMW NA moved for reconsideration of the Order pursuant to Rules 59(e) and 60(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. pp. 198, 204). Both Plaintiff's Motion for Damages Hearing and BMW NA's Motions for reconsideration or relief were set to be heard on October 12, 2017. However, prior to the hearing, the Court entered its October 4, 2017 Order denying all of BMW NA's Motions by Form 4 Order. (R. pp. 18–19). After the Court's October

4 Order, but prior to the scheduled hearing date, both AEP2 and BMW NA filed additional supporting affidavits. (R. pp. 209, 218). Neither affidavit addresses the amount of AEP2's damages; instead, both go to the circumstances surrounding the unsigned assignment agreement at issue and the series of events leading up to BMW NA's notice of removal. (R. pp. 209–16, 218–19).

With BMW NA's Motions for relief from the default judgment disposed of, the October 12, 2017 hearing went forward solely on the issue of damages. Relying on the allegations of the Complaint, counsel for BMW NA argued that the provisions of the contract identified as the source of indemnity liability and attached to AEP2's Complaint should control the measure of damages. (R. pp. 291–95). BMW NA noted two provisions in particular: first, a notice provision demanding that claims for damages "shall be made in writing to such other party within a reasonable time after the first observation of such injury or damage"; and second, a choice of law provision identifying New Jersey's state law as controlling. (R. p. 291). The Court ultimately agreed that New Jersey law controlled and applied New Jersey's statutory interest rate, but declined to enforce the notice provision, instead calculating prejudgment interest from the date the damages were purportedly incurred rather than the date BMW NA was first provided with notice of the alleged loss. (R. pp. 22, 26).

By apparent clerical error, two default judgments have been entered in this matter. The first, in the total amount of \$647,309.06, was filed on November 2, 2017. (R. pp. 20–23). This first Order of Default Judgment recites a total prejudgment interest amount of \$41,640, calculated using the entire amount of withdrawal liability incurred (\$605,669.06) from the date of Plaintiff's first payment. (R. p. 22). The second judgment, filed on November 27, 2017, calculates the total amount of prejudgment interest \$27,537, with interest calculated from the

date of each payment, for a total amount of \$633,206.06. (R. pp. 24–27). Both calculate prejudgment interest at a rate of 2.25%, per New Jersey law. (R. pp. 22, 26).

BMW now appeals the lower court’s default judgment and respectfully requests that this Court vacate the default and remand for further proceedings or, in the alternative, modify the default judgment to reflect the correct amount of prejudgment interest.

### ARGUMENT

In defending this suit, BMW NA effected removal only days out of time and almost simultaneously with the entry of default. Nevertheless, the lower court refused to grant BMW NA the requested relief, resulting in a substantial default judgment premised solely on an interpretation of the Services Agreement that disregards the contract’s plain language. AEP2 has thus unjustly received a windfall arising from a minor, good faith mistake of fact and a default order that applies certain provisions of the contract AEP2 relies on to establish liability, while ignoring others. This judgment should be vacated or modified because (I) the lower court abused its discretion in refusing to set aside the entry of default; and (II) the court erred in both its award and calculation of prejudgment interest.

#### **I. The lower court abused its discretion in refusing to set aside the entry of default**

A party seeking relief from an entry of default is first required to “provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the default entry would serve the interests of justice.” Sundown Operating Co., Inc. v. Intedge Indus., Inc., 383 S.C. 601, 607–08, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888–89 (2009). Once the defaulting party has explained the default, the trial court must also consider (1) the timeliness of the motion for relief; (2) whether the defaulting defendant has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief were granted. Id. The standard for relief under Rule 55(c) is mere “good cause,” a less stringent requirement than that

imposed by Rule 60(b) for relief from a default judgment. Id. The lower court's decision as to whether to set aside an entry of default will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. Regions Bank v. Owens, 402 S.C. 642, 647, 741 S.E.2d 51, 54 (Ct. App. 2013). An abuse of discretion occurs when either the court bases its order on a finding fact that is without evidentiary support, or when the judgment is controlled by an error of law. Id. In this case, the lower court's order denying relief from entry of default should be vacated because the order is premised on an erroneous factual finding as to the explanation or reason for BMW NA's default, and as a result the court misapplied Rule 55(c), SCRPC; additionally, the timeliness of the complaint, existence of a meritorious defense, and absence of any prejudice to Respondent all weigh in favor of relief.

**A. The court's holding that BMW NA had not presented a satisfactory explanation for its default is premised on erroneous factual findings and misapplication of the law**

The lower court mischaracterized BMW NA's explanation for the delay in its answer, and as a result, misapplied Rule 55(c), SCRPC, and the test articulated in Sundown. In denying BMW NA's motion for relief, the lower court's Order repeatedly asserts that BMW NA "lost" the pleadings, "ignore[d] the legal process," and "turned a blind eye," and that the matter "was not assigned to outside counsel for a prompt response." Based on these findings, the lower court held that BMW NA had not put forth a satisfactory explanation for the default. However, the only competent evidence of BMW NA's handling of the Summons and Complaint is the uncontroverted affidavits of Mr. Spitaleri and Mr. Abel. Their statements unequivocally evidence that the default was not the result of lost or ignored legal process, but rather a simple mistake of fact as to the date of service. Unlike mistakes of law, mistakes of fact are within the plain language and purview of the more stringent standard for relief applied under Rule 60(b). See

Rule 60(b)(1), SCRPC; see also Hillman v. Pinion, 347 S.C. 253, 554 S.E.2d 427 (Ct. App. 2001) (noting that Rule 60(b) “is an appropriate remedy for good faith mistakes of fact,” as opposed to mistakes of law or ignorance). Sundown clarified the varying standards applied to lift an entry and a judgment of default. Sundown, 383 S.C. at 607–08, 681 S.E.2d at 888–89. But it should not be read to upend decades of case law affirming that relief from an entry of default is to be liberally granted, or to carve out an exception from relief under Rule 55 that would be otherwise available under the more stringent test of Rule 60(b). Id. Under the plain language of the South Carolina rules and South Carolina law, BMW NA’s mistake of fact as to the date of service and deadline for a defensive filing is a satisfactory explanation for the default.

**1. The lower court erroneously found that BMW NA’s default was the result of a “lost” or “ignored” pleading.**

The Order denying relief from entry of default is predicated on a finding that the “explanation” for BMW NA’s failure to answer within the time allotted was a “lost” or “misplaced” complaint. Because these factual conclusions are without evidentiary support, the lower court’s order should be reversed. See Regions Bank v. Owens, 402 S.C. 642, 647, 741 S.E.2d 51, 54 (Ct. App. 2013) (“An abuse of discretion occurs . . . when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support.”). While BMW NA admittedly initially misidentified and misfiled the Complaint, this oversight was neither the cause of nor the explanation for the default. Instead, the uncontroverted evidence establishes that the default was “caused” by a mistake of fact as to the correct date of service.

This explanation is clearly established by the affidavits of Attorneys Abel and Spitaleri. Mr. Abel acknowledged that he received the Complaint on February 21, 2017, and believed the date of service to be the same. (R. pp. 87–88). Mr. Spitaleri likewise confirmed that he received and took action on the Complaint, but made a good faith mistake of fact as to the correct date of

service. (R. p. 85). Contrary to the lower court's holding, BMW NA had received, acknowledged, and recognized the Complaint, and forwarded it to outside litigation counsel no later than February 21st, nearly three weeks before a defensive response was due. Respondent does not and cannot dispute this. To the extent that any affidavits offered by the Respondent might purport to contradict this explanation, they are improperly considered because the affiants have no personal knowledge of the exchange between Mr. Spitaleri and Mr. Abel, nor do they claim to. See generally Rule 602, SCRE. Notwithstanding the lower court's colorful condemnation of Mr. Spitaleri's initial oversight, it erred when it attributed BMW NA's default to prior conduct that had been resolved well before the time to answer AEP2's complaint had expired. The court cannot find that no "good cause" exists based on a defendant's apparently careless conduct earlier in the proceedings, without regard to whether or not that conduct actually caused the default. No matter how egregious the court below may have found BMW NA's initial handling of the pleading, this misunderstanding was plainly not the cause of—or the explanation for—BMW NA's default, and the court's factual finding that it was is without evidentiary support.

The lower court held that BMW NA had failed to establish "good cause" to set aside the default entry under Rule 55(c), SCRCF, based on a finding that its explanation of a "lost" pleading was insufficient under South Carolina law. The lower court was correct in noting that a lost or ignored pleading is not good cause to set aside an entry of default. But that is not the case here. Rather, BMW NA made a good faith mistake regarding the date of service and inadvertently miscalculated the due date for a responsive motion, ultimately filing the Notice of Removal with the district court on March 23, 2017, a day before default was entered. A mistake as to the date of service falls squarely within the plain language and case law of Rule 60(b),

SCRCP, and is therefore encompassed by Rule 55's more lenient "good cause" standard. See Rule 55(c), SCRCP.

**2. A mistake of fact with regard to the date of service is "good cause" for relief from entry of default, and the lower court abused its discretion in holding otherwise**

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