THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2017-002481

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Circuit

J.C. Nicholson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JUL 19 2018
SC Court of Appeals

AEP2, LLC f/k/a 2AM Group, LLC.....Respondent

v.

BMW of North America, LLC.....Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Thomas H. Pope III
Pope Parker Jenkins, P.A.
P.O. Box 190
1508 College Street
Newberry, SC 29108
Phone: 803-276-2532
Fax: 803-276-8684
Email: tom@ppjlaw.com

John P. Freeman
200 W. Highland Drive - Unit 107
Seattle, WA 98119
Telephone: 803-361-6934
Email: jfreemanusc@gmail.com

Attorneys for Respondent

M. Dawes Cooke, Jr.

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

²⁶ Rule 9(c) SCRCP provides that denial of performance shall be specifically pled; the proposed answer does not reference the notice clause.

between the parties (Exhibit A to complaint) and the Assignment, Assumption and Consent Agreement between AEP and BMW in February 2014, when AEP sold its assets to a third party (Sustained Quality, LLC) and BMW consented to same. (R. pp. 122-130.) The first agreement included a notice of damages clause which provided that claims for damages “shall be made in writing to such other party within a reasonable time after the first observation of such injury or damage.” The second agreement, the Assignment of 2014 did not include a notice of damages claim clause. (R. pp. 128-130.)

As a starting point, the language of the notice of damage claim clause in the 2011 Services Agreement is, in pertinent part, as follows:

“a. Should either party to this Agreement suffer injury to person or property. . . claim should be made in writing to such other party within a reasonable time after the first observation of such injury or damage.”

(R. p. 42.) (emphasis added).

Its intent is that notice of a claim for personal injury or property injury must be given within a reasonable time after same is “observed.” Notably, the 2014 Assignment does not have a requirement of notice for a claim of indemnity for payment of withdrawal liability to the Teamsters Trust, and such claim is not a claim for injury “to persons or property” under the 2011 Agreement. The rationale for this clause is that damage to person or property in fairness should be brought to the attention of the opposing party so it can possibly investigate or seek mitigation, and prompt notice of such claims would allow for investigation, mitigation, or defense of such claims. This rationale is not present for an indemnity claim such as in this case. Further, New Jersey law supports the position of respondent.

BMW's brief cites one case of the New Jersey Superior Court Appellate Division involving a notice of damages clause under New Jersey law, where the court ruled against a plaintiff that did not give notice to the carrier of a claim for a damaged crane boom where there was a clause in the bill of lading that required notice in writing within nine months after delivery. In that case, Johnson & Dealaman, Inc. v. Wm. F. Hegarty, Inc., 93 N.J. Super. 14, 224 A.2d 510 (1965), the New Jersey Superior Court (Appellate Division) reversed the lower court order granting relief to the plaintiff because it did not give the carrier notice of the damaged boom within nine months of delivery and because of the application of the Interstate Commerce Act. The Superior Court reasoned that for physical damage claims in interstate commerce, as a matter of contract, the notice requirement in the bill of lading under the federal law was to avoid opening the door to false claims for alleged damage to goods. Without a reasonable notice provision, parties could make damage claims, and there would be no evidence available to refute them after the passage of time. Even though the carrier had actual notice of the damage, the failure to give the notice of claim within nine months was fatal under federal law. That law does not apply here.

The claim in the instant case is not for "physical" damage; it is for monies owed. If notice of this claim had been given by AEP to BMW for withdrawal liability indemnification before suit was filed, BMW's position would not be improved by that notice. There are/were no "physical" or personal injury damages alleged, and notice of withdrawal liability would not have helped BMW to prepare its defense, assuming it had one. Thus, the lower court in the instant case properly found actual damages to be \$605,669.06. BMW has suffered no prejudice by not receiving sooner notice of AEP's

indemnity claim.

On pages 19-20 of its brief, Appellant BMW argues that under New Jersey law “contract construction is reviewed *de novo*.” This is an incorrect statement of New Jersey law. The case cited by appellant, Kaur v. Assured Lending Corp., 405 N.J. Super. 468, 965 A.2d 203 (2009), decided by an intermediate appellate court, held that only where the lower court set aside a settlement agreement, essentially rewriting the contract, appellate review would be *de novo* because the trial judge was rescinding an entire agreement in an attempt to rewrite the contract. Here, the trial court did nothing of the sort. Therefore, BMW’s reliance on the Kaur case from the New Jersey Superior Court (Appellate Division) is misplaced, and it overlooked rulings of the Supreme Court of New Jersey.

In Conway v. 287 Corp. Ctr. Associates, 187 N.J. 259, 901 A.2d 341 (2006) where the Supreme Court of that state ruled that under New Jersey law (unlike the law of South Carolina) the lower court can consider any relevant evidence in determining the meaning of a contract, even when the express terms are unambiguous. Id. at 347. In another opinion of the Supreme Court of New Jersey, McMahon v. City of Newark, 195 N.J. 526, 951 A.2d 185 (2008), the Supreme Court of that state held that under New Jersey law the court can consider any relevant evidence in determining the meaning of a contract, even when the express terms are unambiguous, in order to apply a “rational meaning.” Id. at 197.

In the instant case, the notice of damage claim clause clearly relates to claims for physical damage to persons or property where it would be important for the damaged party to give reasonable notice so that the defendant could have a chance to investigate said physical damages and/or personal injuries to determine the validity of the claim. The trigger point in the notice clause is a reasonable time “after the first observation of such

injury or damage.” (R. p. 42.) (emphasis added.) In the instant case, no such reason exists for notice any prompter than was given by respondent where no physical damage or personal injury is involved and there was nothing to have been “observed” with regard to the indemnity claim in which BMW is in default.

**B. The Lower Court Correctly Determined
Prejudgment Interest Under New Jersey Law.**

The lower court correctly found and concluded that the amounts paid by respondent for the withdrawal liability were for sums certain and that its indemnity claim against BMW for these amounts was subject to “prejudgment interest under New Jersey law.” (R. p. 22.) It calculated prejudgment interest at the New Jersey interest rate of 2.25% “from the date plaintiff’s payments were made.”

Appellant BMW has not challenged the interest rate, but urges that the lower court erred in making an award of prejudgment interest and calculating same. However, BMW admits a decision on prejudgment interest under New Jersey law is “within the sound discretion of the trial court.” (Brief of Appellant, p. 21.) Respondent agrees that the cases cited by BMW in its brief on this point are generally accurate propositions of New Jersey law, but they do not support BMW’s position.

As stated by the New Jersey Supreme Court in Rova Farms Resort v. Investors Insurance Company of America, 65 N.J. 474, 323 A.2d 495 (1974), in reversing a trial court’s refusal to award prejudgment interest, the primary consideration in determining prejudgment interest is the presumed loss to a plaintiff from the defendant having the use of moneys which it (defendant) should have paid previously. It wrote: “[t]he interest factor simply covers the value of the sum awarded for the prejudgment period during which the defendant had the benefit of monies to which the plaintiff is found to have been earlier

entitled.” Id. at 506. Its ruling in Rova Farms, a bad faith insurance case, was that plaintiff was entitled to prejudgment interest from the date the insured paid a portion of the judgment to claimant.

BMW argues that, even though the amount awarded is for a “sum certain,” no prejudgment interest should be awarded until the time that suit commenced, not the date payments were made. However, under New Jersey case law, prejudgment interest may be awarded at the trial court’s discretion “after the application of equitable principles”. DialAmerica v. Kay Span Energy, 374 N.J. Super. 502, 865 A.2d 728 (2005) (prejudgment interest is calculated within the discretion of the court).

As an equitable matter, BMW should not have use of the monies it owes to respondent without paying the New Jersey rate of 2.25% from the date of each payment made by respondent as set forth in the Order of Judge Hayes. (R. p. 22.)

Under New Jersey case law, unlike South Carolina, the application of equitable principles by a trial court is permissible when it is determining whether to award prejudgment interest and how much. The lower court award is appropriate under New Jersey law and should be affirmed.

III. AS ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUNDS, THE ORDER DENYING BMW'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE ENTRY OF DEFAULT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO AN ADVERSE INFERENCE FROM BMW'S FAILURE TO PRODUCE RELEVANT, AVAILABLE DOCUMENTS IN ITS POSSESSION ON THE ISSUE OF ITS DEFAULT.

Pursuant to Rule 220(c) SCACR, the appellate courts may affirm a judgment for any reason appearing in the record. In this case, BMW failed to produce its internal requirements for timely response to legal process and the likely enlightening email from the Legal Department Supervisor to lawyer Spitaleri about service of the complaint on February 13, 2017. BMW's failure to produce these documents entitle respondent to prevail because there is an adverse inference that, if produced, they would not support BMW's position.

In the record of this case, BMW's affidavits supplied in support of its motion to set aside the entry of default included reference to "[BMW] internal requirements and protocols in place to facilitate timely responses to legal process" (R. p. 86), and "our internal requirements and protocols in place to facilitate timely responses to legal process." (R. p. 188.) BMW did not produce any of its internal documents. All such documents have been withheld from view.

BMW's affidavits in support of its motion to set aside default also included reference to a significant email, which BMW did not provide. In the third Affidavit of Spitaleri, he states that the way BMW's system works is that the Legal Department Coordinator "receives email notice that process had been served on CT Corporation . . . and after saving the served papers, the Department Coordinator then forwards the papers along to the appropriate attorney for handling." (R. p. 213.) None of the emails or documents referenced in this third affidavit were produced, attached, or otherwise

revealed by BMW.²⁷ This third Spitaleri affidavit also refers to the fact that he received an email from Coordinator Carbone with the served papers and she informed Spitaleri that service was on February 10. (R. pp. 209-210.) He says that “Ms. Carbone’s February 13, 2017, email ended up in the wrong electronic folder at some point.” (R. p. 214.) Spitaleri explains later in his affidavit that all of the mistakes he made trace back to his “misplacement of a single email” (R. p. 215.)²⁸ Yet, this, single email that supposedly is at the heart of BMW’s case was never produced by BMW in the lower court. The email has been withheld from respondents and from the record in this case.

The absence of evidence is striking because BMW has the burden of proving its entitlement to relief from default. The issue before the lower court was whether or not BMW could establish that it had a reasonable explanation for being in default, and whether it has “good cause” for its default to be set aside. With BMW’s diligence squarely in issue, it has chosen to conceal documents bearing on that exact issue. BMW’s failure to produce the internal procedures and protocols of BMW on the legal requirements of service of process entitle respondent to an inference that, if produced, these records would not support BMW’s position. BMW’s failure to produce the February 13 email to Mr. Spitaleri in which he received the complaint and was told the date of service was February 10, 2017, also entitles respondent to an adverse inference

²⁷ Had the BMW email been produced, it may have reflected that Carbone is equally neglectful with Spitaleri, which weakens BMW’s position even more, if that is possible.

²⁸ In arguing under Rule 220(c) SCACR, respondent continues to rely on its main argument that BMW’s act of “misplacement,” i.e., losing the suit papers, does not amount to good cause in South Carolina. White Oak Manor, Inc. v. Lexington Ins. Co., 407 S.C. 1, 12, 753 S.E.2d 537, 543 (2014) (losing the complaint was not “good cause.”). See also Roche v. Young Bros. of Florence, 318 S.C. 207, 212, 456 S.E.2d 897, 900 (1995) (“Losing a summons and complaint within the corporation is not a ground to set aside a default judgment.”).

against BMW. It is reasonable to infer that the documents that BMW has elected to withhold from view are harmful to, or even contrary to, BMW's current position.

It is the law in South Carolina that, where a party possesses, but fails to produce available records on a material issue, it may be inferred that the contents of the records, if presented, would be adverse to the party who failed to present the records. Wisconsin Motor Corp. v. Green, 224 S.C. 460, 79 S.E. 2d 718 (1954).

The most recent ruling of our Supreme Court on the issue of whether there is an inference to be drawn when a party fails to produce evidence is Kershaw County Board of Education v. U.S. Gypsum Co., 302 S.C. 390, 396 S.E. 2d 369 (1990). In that case, the Supreme Court upheld a jury charge that "when evidence is lost or destroyed by a party an inference may be drawn by the jury that the evidence which was lost or destroyed by that party would have been adverse to that party." Id. at 372. In the instant case, BMW referred to the critical email of February 13 and its internal protocol for legal process, but never produced these documents. As an additional sustaining ground, its failure to do so supports the lower court's denial of BMW's motion to set aside default, as the inference to be drawn from BMW's conduct is that these documents would not have supported "good cause" for BMW to have relief from default.²⁹

In 2009, the Court of Appeals cited Kershaw County Board of Education with approval in Pringle v. SLR, Inc. of Summerton, 382 S.C. 397, 675 S.E. 2d 783 (Ct. App. 2009). In Pringle, the court of appeals also noted that the party seeking the inference had

²⁹ Internal corporate manuals and protocols are admissible to show the reasonableness of a corporate employee's actions. In Caldwell v. K-Mart Corp., 306 S.C. 27, 410 S.E. 2d 21 (Ct. App. 1991); rehearing denied November 4, 1991; certiorari denied January 7, 1992, the K-Mart loss prevent manual was admissible in a false imprisonment case to show the reasonableness of the conduct of store employees, regardless of the fact that a statute addressed a good faith defense to false imprisonment suits. The court held that an inference could be drawn as to whether K-Mart's actions were reasonable in time and reasonable in manner. BMW talked extensively in its affidavits about internal corporate requirements, yet failed to produce or quote them.

to show that the document might reasonably support whatever prescription is being requested by the fact finder. Id. at 405, 787. In the present case, BMW produced six affidavits, some with attachments, but the transmittal email and the set of BMW's own internal procedures and protocols have consistently been withheld. They would clearly relate to whether BMW had an acceptable justification for failing to timely answer the complaint. While the record is replete with facts showing no "good cause" for BMW's motion to set aside default, the adverse inference from BMW's consistent, repeated failure to provide these documents bearing on its diligence in handling the suit papers is an additional sustaining ground supporting the lower court's order denying BMW's motion under Rule 55.

The fact that the second and third Spitaleri affidavits reference, but do not quote or attach, the email from his supervisor dated February 13 referencing the February 10 date of service of the summons and complaint is suspicious. It is also telling because it appears that this email from Carbone actually contradicts a portion of the affidavit of former BMW counsel who averred that BMW was "not alerted by their registered agent to the actual date of service..." (R. p. 88.) The fact that the never-produced email of February 13, 2017, directly contradicts the affidavit of former BMW counsel is significant and entitles respondent to an adverse inference about credibility that it is not favorable to BMW's position in this case.